ERiK report also available via www.dji.de/erik ER*K

ERik Methodological Report I

Target Populations, Sampling Frames and Sampling Designs of the ERiK-Surveys 2020

Forschungsverbund



Deutsches Jugendinstitut Technische Universität Dortmund





ERIK Methodological Report I

Target Populations, Sampling Frames and Sampling Designs of the ERiK-Surveys 2020



ERiK Methodological Report I

Target Populations, Sampling Frames and Sampling Designs of the ERiK-Surveys 2020







The German Youth Institute (DJI) is one of the largest social science research institutes in Europe and plays a central role in current research into the life situations of children, young people and families. The DJI's empirical studies both aim to contribute to the state of the art of research in the field as well as provide key impulses for professional practice. In addition to its scientific focus, the DJI provides policy advice to the German national government, the German federal states and local authorities.

Founded in 1963, the institute is run by a non-profit association with members in politics, academia and organisations and associations active in child-, youth-, and family welfare. The DJI receives its funding from the Federal Ministry for Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women and Youth, the German federal states, the Federal Ministry of Education and Research, the European Commission as well as foundations and other science funding institutions.

Currently, about 400 staff members work and conduct research at the two locations in Munich and Halle (Saale).

Authors:

Diana D. Schacht, Benjamin Gedon, Jakob J. Gilg, Christina Klug, Susanne Kuger

Design and layout of inner section:

Christiane Zay, Passau

Interior typesetting:

Marei Peischl, Hamburg

Editing:

Denise Dewey-Muno, Lorch am Rhein

2021 wbv publication a division of wbv Media GmbH & Co. KG, Bielefeld

Overall production: wbv Media GmbH & Co. KG, Bielefeld wbv.de

Cover design: Christiane Zay, Passau

Bestell-Nr.: 6004863w ISBN: 978-3-7639-6696-7 **DOI: 10.3278/6004863w**

Printed in Germany

This publication is freely available for download at **wbv-open-access.de**

This publication, with the exception of the cover photo is published under the following Creative Commons: creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/4.0/en



All trademarks, trade names, logos, or company names referenced in this publication are used for identification only and are the property of their respective owners

Bibliographic information of the German National Library

The German National Library lists this publication in the German National Bibliography; detailed bibliographic data is available on the Internet at http://dnb.d-nb.de.

SPONSORED BY THE



Federal Ministry for Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women and Youth

Contents

| 1 | The | German System of Early Childhood Education and Care | 3 |
|---|-------|---|----|
| 2 | Obje | ectives of the Study | 5 |
| 3 | Targ | et Population | 6 |
| | 3.1 | Youth Offices | 6 |
| | 3.2 | Family Day-Care Workers | 6 |
| | 3.3 | Providers of Childcare | 7 |
| | 3.4 | Directors of Day-Care Centres | 8 |
| | 3.5 | Pedagogical Staff at Day-Care Centres | 8 |
| | 3.6 | Parents of Children in Day-Care | ç |
| | 3.7 | Children in Day-Care | ò |
| 4 | Sam | pling Frame | 10 |
| | 4.1 | Sampling Frame of Youth Offices | 10 |
| | 4.2 | Sampling Frame of Family Day-Care Workers | 10 |
| | 4.3 | Sampling Frame of Providers of Childcare | 10 |
| | 4.4 | Sampling Frame of Directors and Pedagogical Staff at Day-Care Centres | 11 |
| | 4.5 | Sampling Frame of Parents with Children in Day-Care | 12 |
| | 4.6 | Sampling Frame of Children in Day-Care | 12 |
| 5 | Sam | pling Designs | 14 |
| | 5.1 | Sampling Design for Youth Offices and Family Day-Care Workers | 14 |
| | 5.2 | Sampling Design for Providers of Childcare | 15 |
| | 5.3 | Sampling Design for Directors and Pedagogical Staff at Day-Care Centres | 16 |
| | 5.4 | Sampling Design for Parents of Children in Day-Care | 17 |
| | 5.5 | Sampling Design for Children in Day-Care | 18 |
| 6 | Field | lwork Results and Response Rates | 19 |
| | 6.1 | Parent Survey | 19 |
| | Bibli | ography | 20 |
| | List | of Tables | 23 |

The German System of Early Childhood Education and Care

The quality of early childhood education and care (ECEC; in German: Frühkindliche Bildung, Betreuung und Erziehung (FBBE)) has moved to the fore of national and international political debates. International research findings show that children who attend high-quality ECEC enjoy long-lasting educational benefits, for example they tend to do better at school than those who do not attend ECEC (Ruhm/Waldfogel 2012) and benefit with regard to their cognitive and socioemotional development (Siraj-Blatchford/Moriarty 2004). At the same time, ECEC is regarded as a key factor for creating equal educational and social opportunities (Vandenbroeck/Lazzari 2014) and for promoting female labor market participation, hence it has been directly linked to wider economic returns and social prosperity (Cunha/ Heckman 2010; Cunha et al. 2006).

In most Western countries, the growing consideration of the value of ECEC has resulted in a shift towards policies of investing in ECEC (Häusermann 2018) and thereby a significantly increased availability of childcare (Bonoli/Reber 2010). Within the ongoing quantitative expansion of ECEC services, questions regarding the assurance and development of the structural as well as the pedagogical quality of those services are raised. In most Western countries, these questions are being addressed by national efforts to assess and develop the quality of ECEC, and in most countries surveys are conducted to that end.

In Germany, the few nationally representative studies reveal different findings regarding ECEC quality. While some studies indicate mediocre quality and stagnating development of the quality of ECEC services (e.g. the national study on education, care and upbringing in early childhood, NUBBEK (Tietze et al. 2013)), others show that it depends on the parents' socioeconomic circumstances like income, education and migration background whether young children attend some form of day-care or not (Bildungsberichter-

stattung 2020; Fuchs-Rechlin/Bergmann 2014).

This wide array of research findings may be due to the several challenges relating to the investigation of ECEC quality in Germany. Four closely related challenges are considered to be of particular relevance.

First, there is an ongoing debate about how to define quality in German ECEC (Mayer/Beckh 2018). Since the 1990s, various stakeholders in research and politics have created momentum for the definition and development of instruments to measure quality in the different ECEC settings. The diversity of pedagogical concepts of ECEC settings and providers resulted in a large variety of instruments and procedures for quality development and assurance - the so called "quality management systems". The German nationtwotal quality initiative in the system of day-care facilities for children (in German: Nationale Qualitätsinititative im System der Tageseinrichtungen für Kinder) defined five quality criteria (national criteria catalogue) and compiled and tested evaluation procedures, which are widely used within Germany. In 2019, the German law on quality development in ECEC (in German: Gesetz zur Weiterentwicklung der Qualität und zur Verbesserung der Teilhabe in Tageseinrichtungen und in der Kindertagespflege, KiTa-Qualitäts- und -Teilhabeverbesserungsgesetz (KiQuTG) for short) came into force. It governs the quality goals in ECEC, such as the improvement of access, the child-staff ratio, the qualification of staff and the strengthening of leadership in ECEC (Schilling 2017). Within the KiQuTG, the monitoring of ECEC quality is related to and structured by ten pillars and one additional topic.

Second, the different ECEC policies across the 16 German federal states lead to substantial regional differences. For example, the participation rates of children in the former eastern and western parts of Germany vary drastically (Alt et al. n.d.). In 2017, 51 percent of the children

under three years within the former East German states participated in ECEC compared to 29 percent within the former West German states (Autorengruppe Bildungsberichterstattung 2018). In general, the government of the Federal Republic of Germany sets a statutory framework including binding objectives and principles on German ECEC (see Book VIII of the German Social Code, SGB VIII). For example, according to the German Child and Youth Welfare Services Act (in German: Kinder- und Jugendhilfegesetz), centrebased early childhood education and care as well as family day-care services have to:

- support children in becoming independent and socially integrated personalities,
- support and complement education and care in the family,
- assist parents in better combining childcare and employment responsibilities (see § 22 section 2 SGB VIII).

Framed by the above legislation, the federal states (in German: Länder) legally regulate and specify the tasks and goals of ECEC, such as the childstaff ratio or room dimensions (for an overview of ECEC laws in the 16 federal states see the German education server, Eduserver). The planning and implementation of ECEC at the local level, including the funding of ECEC services, is managed by local youth welfare offices (in German: örtliche Jugendämter). Thus, beside the federal state level, public goods provision in ECEC varies substantially between municipalities. Therefore, it is not surprising that empirical findings from studies representative of one region or local setting vary substantially from results of studies describing the situation in another regional setting.

Third, in Germany, diverse ECEC settings and providers need to be accounted for. At the municipal level, the Child and Youth Welfare Services Act assigns the responsibility for public welfare provision to the youth welfare offices (in German: Jugendämter). The youth welfare offices (or youth offices for short) have supervisory responsibility for providers assigned within their administrative area (see § 69 SGB VIII). Service providers (in German: Träger), which can be divided into public (in German: öffentliche Träger) and private providers (in German: freie Träger) of child and

youth welfare services, run the majority of centrebased ECEC in Germany. In 2018, 84 percent of the children under three years attended ECEC within a day-care centre, while a further 16 percent attended family day-care (in German: Kindertagespflege), another type of institutionalised care setting in Germany (Statistisches Bundesamt 2018). Thus, in Germany, several stakeholders are important for the quality of ECEC. While previous studies considered the perspective of parents (Aust et al. 2019), of directors and pedagogical staff in day-care centres (Statistisches Bundesamt 2019b; Lange 2017), of providers of day-care (Schneider 2018), of youth welfare offices (BMFSFJ 2017), of family day-care workers (Davis et al. 2012) and in rare cases even of children (Vandenbroeck/Lazzari 2014), studies combining the perspectives of the aforementioned stakeholders are still rare and partly outdated (such as NUBBEK Döge 2014).

Fourth, only a few micro data sets covering the field of ECEC in Germany exist - and even fewer of these are nationally representative data sets (German Data Forum 2010). The existing data comprises information collected by official statistics such as the statistics on child and youth services (in German: Kinder- und Jugendhilfestatistik, KJH-Statistik for short; Statistisches Bundesamt (2019b)) and survey data. Since 2006, official statistics have been compiled on the number of children attending centre-based ECEC as well as attending family day-care services. The data also contains information on the staff and the type of provider. However, official reporting of these statistics differs by state and district. In addition, certain definitions used within the KIH statistics are criticised within the ECEC research field (Schilling 2002; Pothmann 2019; Schilling/Kolvenbach 2011; Forschungsverbund DJI/TU Dortmund 2019). Survey data, on the other hand, is mainly limited to cross-sectional, regional data sets representing one perspective in the multi-actor ECEC field, such as pedagogical staff in day-care centres. The shortage of multi-actor studies in Germany may partly be due to the lack of register data on the German ECEC system. No register exists for any of the aforementioned actor groups. Thus, there is a high demand for nationally representative data combining the perspectives of different actors within the ECEC field.

2. Objectives of the Study

This survey report summarises the main information on the data collection process within the German study on indicator-based monitoring of structural quality in the German early childhood education and care system (in German: Entwicklung von Rahmenbedingungen in der Kindertagesbetreuung – indikatorengestützte Qualitätsbeobachtung; ERiK for short). The project will run from June 2019 to December 2022 and is funded by the Federal Ministry for Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women and Youth (in German: Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend; BMFSFJ for short).

In the context of the recent expansion of child-care places in ECEC institutions for children, the project surveyed and compiled unique data sets on the structural quality in the German ECEC system. This was accomplished by carrying out surveys with different actors within the field, thereby gaining an exceptional understanding of the different perspectives within the field. This encompassed surveys of the following target groups:

- 1. youth welfare offices
- 2. family day-care workers
- 3. providers of childcare
- 4. directors and pedagogical staff in day-care institutions
- 5. parents of children in day-care
- 6. children in institutional day-care

The first waves of the first four surveys was conducted in summer and autumn 2020, with the second wave planned for winter 2021/22 and spring 2022. The parents survey, on the other hand, is conducted on a slightly different time scale, as it part of a long-running yearly study on child-

care by the German Youth Institute and funded by the BMFSFJ, called DJI-Kinderbetreuungsstudie, (KiBS for short)¹. The study surveys parents of children under the age of 12, and a separate technical report describes it in more details than it is done here (Aust et al. 2019, for more details). The ERiK children survey is planned for spring/summer 2022.

All of the aforementioned survey data sets include various quality indicators, primarily indicators of structural and orientation quality in German ECEC. The data sets were collected in collaboration with the infas Institute for Applied Social Sciences and the SOKO Institut für Sozialforschung und Kommunikation. By combining the different data sets, ERiK allows researchers a unique multi-perspective view on structural quality in the German early childhood education and care system. The ERiK data is thus particularly suitable for comparative research, such as addressing whether the perspective of directors and pedagogical staff in day-care institutions varies. At the same time, the detailed regional data allows for comparisons between and among different institutional settings, such as whether we find more variation in the perspective of pedagogical persons within a municipality or between different municipalities within a federal state.

This technical report covers the target populations (Chapter 3) and sampling frames (Chapter 4) of the different surveys, as well as the respective sampling designs and procedures (Chapter 5). Furthermore, since the first wave of the parent survey has already been completed, the field work and response rate (Chapter 6) are included for the parent survey.

¹ The study is the continuation of the KiföG project which ran from 2012 to 2016 and evaluated the Child Support Act.(in German: Kinderförderungsgesetz; KiföG for short)

3. Target Population

ERIK consists of seven different surveys, which target seven distinct populations accordingly. These target populations are youth offices, family day-care workers, providers of childcare, directors of day-care centres, pedagogical staff in these centres, parents and children. In the following, we define the different target populations in more detail.

3.1 Youth Offices

The survey of youth offices targeted youth welfare offices in Germany as defined in § 79 SGB VIII and focused on the role of youth offices in their planning and governing function. Questions on the role of youth offices as providers of childcare were moreover included in the survey of providers of childcare (see 3.3).

The survey targeted all youth offices that existed on 1 October 2019 (date of address research). The call for participation in the survey was addressed to the directors, who oversee and guide the work flow within the youth offices and their development (see § 70 section 2 SGB VIII). Wherever directors of youth offices themselves were not willing to participate in the survey, they were allowed to designate an employee to respond on their behalf as long as the designated person had all information required to do so. Additionally, directors were allowed to pass on the questionnaire or parts of it to employees within the youth office responsible for ECEC. Thus, the survey includes questions regarding the potential survey participation of multiple employees within one youth office, as this is likely to occur in the case of youth offices that have multiple departments with responsibilities for ECEC.

The survey covered different types of youth offices. This encompasses the following three types of local youth offices:

- 1. County youth offices (in German: Kreisjugendämter),
- 2. Youth offices of cities not associated with a county (in German: Jugendämter kreisfreier Städte/Stadtjugendämter),

3. Youth offices of cities/municipalities associated with a county (in German: kreisangehörige Jugendämter)

4. Youth offices of city districts (in German:

Bezirksjugendämter) (e.g. Berlin, Hamburg). In Germany, the responsibilities of local youth offices differ from those of the federal youth offices (in German: Landesjugendämter). The former are responsible for the assignment of services in accordance with SGB VIII, including vocational training (§ 74 section 6 SGB VIII) and granting operating permits for family day-care workers (§87a section 1 SGB VIII). Since federal youth offices are responsible for interregional tasks and the government of local youth offices and are less

involved in the practical management and coor-

dination of childcare, they were not targeted in

3.2 Family Day-Care Workers

the ERiK survey.

The survey of family day-care workers targeted the providers and staff of family day-care facilities in Germany who hold a permit for family day-care granted by the responsible youth office and provide ECEC according to § 22 and § 23 SGB VIII. Youth offices grant temporary permits to family day-care workers who have their permanent dwelling within their local jurisdiction for up to five years (§ 43 section 3 SGB VIII) in case of compliance with the requirements regulated in § 43 section 2 SGB VIII, e.g. relevant professional training. Under the terms of § 43 section 1 SGB VIII, family day-care workers need a permit when

- 1. they do not supervise the child(ren) within the dwelling of their parents (legal guardians),
- 2. they supervise the child(ren) during the day for more than 15 hours per week,
- 3. they are on a salary for more than three months

In 2019, the majority (around 68 percent) of family day-care workers supervised children within their own home, whereas only around 9 percent

worked within the household of the supervised child(ren) (Ullrich-Runge/Lipowski 2019).

A family day-care worker is allowed to provide care for up to five children (§ 43 section 3 SGB VII), while larger family day-care facilities (in German: Großtagespflegestelle or (Kinder-)Tagespflegegemeinschaft) operated with an average child care capacity of about 9 children per facility in 2017 (Autorengruppe Bildungsberichterstattung 2018). Larger family day-care facilities comprise at least two family day-care workers who provide childcare for more than five children. Respective permits can be granted by the local youth office based on the specific regulations of the federal states. Specifically, only 11 federal states allow supervision within larger family day-care facilities, namely Baden-Württemberg, Bavaria, Berlin, Bremen, Hamburg, Hesse, Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania, Lower Saxony, North Rhine-Westphalia, Saarland und Saxony-Anhalt. The share of larger day-care facilities increased from 28 to 39 percent since 2014 (Bildungsberichterstattung 2020).

On a yearly basis, the official statistics on children and employees in publicly funded family day-care facilities (in German: Statistik der Kinder und tätigen Personen in öffentlich geförderter Kindertagespflege) (Statistisches Bundesamt 2016) and the statistics on employers in larger day-care facilities and the therein supervised children (in German: Statistik über Personen in Großtagespflegestellen und die dort betreuten Kinder) (Statistisches Bundesamt 2014) surveys all publicly funded family day-care workers and larger family day-care facilities in Germany as part of the KJH statistics, for example collecting information on the overall number of family day-care workers and their working conditions (Pothmann 2018). Public funding of family day-care workers and large family day-care facilities by the local youth welfare office is based on a financial funding and different services regulated in § 23 sections 1 and 4 SGB VIII. This includes the following services:

- the allocation of children to family day-care workers,
- counseling for family day-care workers and parents,
- practical supervision of family day-care workers by the youth office,
- > the provision of workshops and qualification

- courses for family day-care workers, and
- additional services regulated by the respective federal state.

This excludes family day-care workers who are funded solely by religious establishments, welfare and youth organisations and/or privately. Privately means for example that parents and family day-care workers have a contract with each other without the involvement of the local youth welfare office. The KiBS report for 2015 revealed that around 10 percent of the children supervised by family day-care workers were privately funded. Thus, these ECEC cases might not be covered by the official statistics (Statistisches Bundesamt 2016, 2014).

3.3 Providers of Childcare

The survey of providers of childcare targets service providers holding a permit according to § 45 SGB VIII. They are legal entities providing publicly available day-care, meaning they operate service institutions for early childhood education and care.

They are financed either

- by the German federal states and municipalities such as local youth offices (public providers),
- **)** by religious establishments, welfare and youth organisations (*private providers*), and/or
- privately such as within parents' initiatives or associations (private providers) (Strehmel/Overmann 2018; Bieker 2011).

Private providers (in German: freie Träger) can become legally recognised providers of childcare ("anerkannter Träger der freien Jugendhilfe") if they fulfil a number of requirements, such as ongoing childcare activities for at least three years (see § 75 SGB VIII). This recognition brings certain privileges such as the possibility of long term funding, is however not a requirement for acting as a provider (§ 74 section 1 SGB VIII).

One of the most important political principles that underpinning the organisation, funding and regulation of early childhood education and care services in Germany is the principle of subsidiarity (in German: Subsidiaritätsprinzip). This determines the relationship between public and private providers, which are required to cooperate as partners (see § 4 section 1 SGB VIII). For

the most part, providers in Germany are publicly financed but privately managed (Dieckbreder/ Koschmider/Sauer 2014). Other possible combinations are public funding and management as well as private funding and management (Oberhuemer/Schreyer/Neuman 2010). However, § 74 SGB VIII states that private providers are given priority over public providers when new services are established. Public providers (youth offices) only provide day-care centres if private providers do not cater to the existing demand (see § 4 SGB VIII). Thus, it is not surprising that the majority of early childhood education and care services in Germany are managed by private providers (ibid.).

Local youth offices have the overall responsibility for planning and governing the responsibilities for early childhood services and have to ensure that these services fulfil their tasks (see 3.1). At the same time, they are also responsible for providing sufficient places to fulfil legal entitlements, and therefore act as public providers.

Apart from the provision of childcare, providers hire and train their pedagogical staff, build new childcare centres and are responsible for quality management in the childcare centres (Kliche/Töppich/Koch-Gromus 2009).

3.4 Directors of Day-Care Centres

Directors of day-care centres act as a link between providers of childcare and pedagogical staff. They implement guidelines provided by the provider and manage the pedagogical staff. In addition, some work with children alongside the pedagogical staff.

ERiK defines directors as the person taking on more managerial responsibilities relative to other day-care centre staff. Following this definition, each day-care centre in Germany has a director.

Thus, ERiK differs from the KJH statistics in its definition of directors: while the KJH statistics compare the share of managerial vs. pedagogical tasks of one staff person, ERiK compares the share of managerial tasks among all staff. Within the KJH statistics (part III.1 (Statistisches Bundesamt 2013)), directors are defined as persons who spend either the most or second most of their working hours on managerial tasks. Therefore, the KJH statistics register around 10 percent of the day-

care institutions in Germany as having no director (Statistisches Bundesamt 2014).

ERIK, on the other hand, based on its broader definition, defines more persons as directors within the field of day-care centres and thus varies in its definition of the target population. Consequently, there is a director within each institution following the ERIK definition.

Only directors of day-care centres for children not yet attending school are included in the ERiK sample (in German: ohne Horte), as the objective of ERiK is to investigate the impact of the KiQuTG on the quality of ECEC and this primarily concerns children under six years.

3.5 Pedagogical Staff at Day-Care Centres

ERiK defines pedagogical staff as those employees who

- work in an institutionalised day-care centre for children not yet attending school and
- > provide early childhood education and care.

Thus, pedagogical staff include childcare workers with a degree in preschool education, social pedagogues, curative educators (in German: Heilpädagoginnen und Heilpädagogen) or possess some other form of pedagogical education. Furthermore, it includes non-professionals like apprentices, people completing a voluntary social year (in German: freiwilliges soziales Jahr, Bundesfreiwilligendienst), interns, trainees and volunteers who are employed to provide any form of education and care services. At the same time, this excludes employees with non-pedagogical tasks, such as administrative employees, janitors and kitchen staff. Persons who only fulfil managerial tasks (full-time directors) were also excluded from this survey since they are targeted in the ERiK director survey (see 3.4).

The KJH statistics (part III.1) survey and distinguish between pedagogical, administrative, janitorial and technical staff (Statistisches Bundesamt 2019b). It lists the same occupational groups as ERiK (such as professionals and non-professionals) as pedagogical staff, but explicitly excludes volunteers. However, while the KJH statistics also consider directors as pedagogical staff, ERiK lists them separately if they do not perform any pedagogical tasks. Nonetheless, it

is possible that directors took part in the pedagogical staff survey in situations with teams of directors or a substitute completing the director survey.

3.6 Parents of Children in Day-Care

As previously mentioned, the parent survey is part of the DJI Childcare Study (KiBS). KiBS is funded by the BMFSFJ and has conducted annual large-scale surveys of parents of children from birth to the end of their attendance at primary school (usually age 12) since 2012 (from 2012 until 2015 under the name KiföG-Projekt). The target population is defined as those parents who have custody of an anchor child living together with them in a household. In addition to information about the responding parent of the targeted child, proxy information about the other parent, the partner and the anchor child is obtained. According to the Federal Statistical Office, at the end of 2018 there were about nine million children under 12 years (Statistisches Bundesamt 2020). ERiK only targets parents of children in Germany prior to the start of their school attendance.

3.7 Children in Day-Care

ERiK includes the perspective of children themselves on the quality of the childcare that they receive, and thus surveys children. The target population is defined as children

-) aged four or over,
- > who attend a day-care centre, and
-) do not attend school yet.

Children are included in the official KJH statistics if they attend a day-care centre or if they receive any form of publicly financed day-care (§ 98 section 1 SGB VIII). According to the Federal Statistical Office, around five million children up to the age of six were not yet attending school at the end of 2018 (Statistisches Bundesamt 2019a). Of those, around four million children regularly attended a day-care centre or were cared for by a family day-care worker (Statistisches Bundesamt 2019b). In 2020, the target population of children aged four or over who attend a day-care centre but do not attend school yet, totalled nearly two million children in Germany (Statistisches Bundesamt 2020).

4. Sampling Frame

The previous chapter introduced ERiK's seven distinct target populations: youth welfare offices, family day-care workers, providers of childcare, directors of day-care centres, pedagogical staff in these centres, parents and children. This chapter presents the respective sampling frames of these target populations and assesses their coverage with regards to the target population.

4.1 Sampling Frame of Youth Offices

The DJI has extensive experience in conducting surveys of German youth welfare offices. The projects "Jugendhilfe sozialer Wandel" (JHSW for short) and "Qualität in der Kindertagespflege" (QuidKit for short) (Gandlgruber 2019; Burg/Hess 2017) already compiled address lists for youth offices and shared them with the ERiK project. By October 2019, ERiK had collated and updated the information in both lists, which resulted in a list of youth offices that contained the name of the institution, the postal address, the federal state and its email address. By October 2019, a total of 575 youth office entries existed (N= 575). The survey of youth offices was a complete survey targeting all youth offices in Germany. However, between updating the address list and starting the survey in the field, the coverage of the sampling frame could potentially have decreased due to reforms in the municipal structure. But to our knowledge, no further reforms have taken place between updating of the sampling frame and the start of the field work.

4.2 Sampling Frame of Family Day-Care Workers

A complete official list of family day-care workers in Germany does not exist. However, given that youth offices provide financial funding and/or other services to publicly funded family day-care workers and large family day-care facilities located within their respective districts (see 3.2), they have the contact details of this target population. Thus,

ERIK asked youth offices to forward questionnaires to family day-care workers located within the respective youth office district in order to gain access to this hard-to-reach population. The official KJH statistics use the same approach to gather information on this population, but the provision of information for the KJH statistics is mandatory (in German: Auskunftspflicht) for youth offices (§ 102 SGB VIII). The number of family day-care workers in the federal states ranges from 183 in Saxony-Anhalt to 15,237 in North-Rhine-Westphalia and totals 44,722 in Germany.

However, the sampling frame may be incorrect with regard to the target population due to two restrictions: first, it is possible that when distributing materials the youth office considers only those family day-care workers that are funded by the youth office instead of all of those with a valid permit. Second, there is a possibility that youth offices list inactive day-care workers, such as family day-care workers currently on parental leave or who have already retired.

Youth offices have no register of completely privately funded family day-care workers when they have no permit. Hence the youth offices rely on the same information as the official statistics when forwarding the questionnaires. This means that ERiK targeted the same population as the KJH statistics, resulting in the same undercoverage problems.

There is one difference, however: the ERiK survey only targeted family day-care workers and large family day-care facilities that currently provide care for children who are not yet attending school. If the family day-care workers did not provide care for these children, they were excluded after sampling.

4.3 Sampling Frame of Providers of Childcare

Due to the fact that there is no nationwide register of providers of childcare in Germany, there is no reliable sampling frame of childcare

Table 4.3-1: Match between commercial Nexiga list of providers of childcare and federal state lists (excluding Saxony)

| | N | % |
|--------------------------|--------|------|
| Only Nexiga list | 8,225 | 34.9 |
| Only ministerial list | 9,201 | 39.0 |
| Match between both lists | 6,151 | 26.1 |
| Total | 23,577 | 100 |

providers. ERiK's request to the German federal states for lists of childcare providers in their respective state resulted in an incomplete list. For example, no official list of childcare providers was available in Saxony. ERiK therefore procured a commercial list of providers of childcare from Nexiga GmbH. Nexiga scanned a webbased platform called kita.de for the addresses of providers of childcare and found 14,868 addresses of providers, after deleting duplicates. The webbased platform kita.de is provided by VGL Verlagsgesellschaft mbH. It generates information on providers of childcare from reports by childcare providers, day-care institutions, childcare recipients, and from research using online sources that the kita.de staff conduct (kita.de 2020). However, despite the fact that registration on the platform is free of charge, kita.de staff believe that some childcare providers may not have registered themselves and may be hard to find via online searches.

The Nexiga list comprises the name of the childcare provider, their postal address, the district code (Gemeindekennzahl), and the administrative district of the youth office (Jugendamtsbezirke). For some of the listed providers, the Nexiga list includes additional information: for 22 percent, the list mentions the number of places funded by the provider, and for 40 percent it names the type of provider, such as catholic, protestant, or municipal. ERiK screened the names of the childcare providers for this type of information, and was thus able to identify the type of an additional 50 percent of listed providers (e.g. if the word "catholic" was part of the name, the provider was coded as a catholic provider).

We compared the information on providers between the commercial Nexiga list and the combined list from the 15 federal states: about 6,200 addresses were identical in both lists (about 26 percent). However, about 35 percent of providers included in the Nexiga list could not be matched to the respective federal state list, and 39 percent of the providers included in the federal state lists could not be matched to the Nexiga list (see table 4.3-1). In total, the Nexiga list consisted of 15,020 cases including Saxony (14,376 cases excluding Saxony) whereas the federal state lists together comprised 15,352 providers. The Nexiga list contained information for all federal states and appeared to be more up to date. ERiK therefore decided to use the Nexiga list as the sampling frame, despite the fact that the total number of providers included was lower than in the federal lists. It is clear that the Nexiga list does not cover the entire target population (undercoverage error), yet it is not possible to deduce to what extent, as both lists include an unknown number of non-eligible cases and complete information is not available on the population.

4.4 Sampling Frame of Directors and Pedagogical Staff at Day-Care Centres

In Germany, no official register exists for day-care centres, which results in the absence of a reliable sampling frame.² To gather contact information of childcare centres, ERiK thus pursued the same strategy as it did with providers of childcare: first, ERiK requested official lists from the German federal states and second, it procured a commercial list from Nexiga GmbH.

The commercial Nexiga list consists of information from three different databases. Nexiga again used kita.de (an online register of providers of childcare and childcare centres) as the main source of information, but gathered additional information from two commercial data providers, Quadress and Schober. Information from these databases supplements the list from kita.de but does not provide additional information (e.g. about providers). However, kita.de includes information on both providers of childcare and childcare centres, which enabled ERiK to link the list

¹ These numbers (as well as those in Table 4.3-1) include 152 cases that remained in the Nexiga data erroneously after quality checks. They are reported here as these are the numbers that were used for sampling.

² For example, the KJH statistics surveys day-care centers with the help of youth welfare offices, which forward the questionnaires to the directors of day-care centres.

of providers of childcare with the list of childcare centres.

The list comprises a total of 54,530 centres. After adjusting it for duplicates that have the same addresses, the list still contains 50,360 addresses (n=50,360). Overall, the list contains information about the name of the childcare centre, the postal address, the district code (Gemeindekennzahl) and the administrative district of the youth office (Jugendamtsbezirke). In addition, the list gives information about the number of available places and the type of childcare provider for some of the day-care centres.

Institutions that exclusively offer after-school care for school-age children should not be included in the sampling frame because only non-school children are part of the target group. Thus, we screened the Nexiga list for these centres by searching for "Schule" (in English: school) or "Hort" (in English: out-of-school care for school age children) in the names of the institutions. We excluded 534 cases from the Nexiga list that both contained "Schule" and "Hort" within the names of the childcare centres because random checks of these cases reliably revealed only non-eligible cases.

The lists from the federal states included different information. Therefore, we were unable to use them for sampling, but could use them to conduct a quality check of the Nexiga list. Thus, we created a general list for Germany by combining the different lists from the federal states, which was then compared with the Nexiga list via the centres' addresses. This procedure achieved a match of about 47 percent (see table 4.4-1). About one quarter of the Nexiga list did not match with the federal state list. In order to ascertain the number of non-matches due to misspellings, we checked the addresses within Nexiga that did not match corresponding addresses in the data set exactly. Prior to sampling of the centres, we checked

Table 4.4-1: Match between commercial Nexiga list of centres and federal state lists

| | N | % |
|--------------------------|--------|------|
| Only Nexiga list | 17,172 | 24.4 |
| Only ministerial list | 20,110 | 28.5 |
| Match between both lists | 33,188 | 47.1 |
| Total | 70,470 | 100 |

3,347 addresses and made 309 corrections. Following these corrections, we again merged both data sets, resulting in a higher number of matched cases. Therefore, we assume that about 9 percent of the non-matched cases exist with smaller deviations in both lists. However, this still means that there is likely considerable coverage error in the sampling frame.

4.5 Sampling Frame of Parents with Children in Day-Care

The KiBS sample was drawn from the official registers of local authorities. This means that parents of unregistered children are not included in the sample.

Because of time lags between birth, registration, sampling and questionnaire completion, the selection probability for children aged two months or under is very small. Consequently, KiBS de facto sampled parents of children registered in the official registers from the age of three months to the age of 11 years in Berlin and Brandenburg and to the age of ten years in all other states. The wider age range in Berlin and Brandenburg is due to the fact that primary school lasts two years longer in these states.

However, when asked retrospectively about the month in which the child entered childcare for the first time, only 0.7 percent of all parents stated an age of under three months (Aust et al. 2019). Given the fact that ERiK's target population is parents of children who attend childcare, the undercoverage of parents of very young children is only a minor issue.

Since every parent potentially has more than one child, it is possible that parents are sampled for more than one child. In this case, the parent would only be surveyed once, which could potentially lead to an underrepresentation of children with siblings.

The questionnaire of KiBS included questions specifically designed for ERiK. These were asked only to the subsample of parents of children attending daycare, but not school.

4.6 Sampling Frame of Children in Day-Care

ERiK's goal is to provide a multi-actor perspective on the issue of childcare. Thus, only centres in which the director and at least one member of pedagogical staff took part in their respective survey will be included in the sampling frame for the children survey. Furthermore, we do not possess lists of children attending the different day-care centres; only the respective directors do. Due to these two reasons, the sampling frame depends on the realised sample of centres (n=2,211). It is reasonable to assume that the directors' lists are a reliable representation of all children attending the day-care centres.

Day-care centres that only provide care for children under three years as well as centres exclu-

sively for children attending school (in German: Horte) will be excluded from the sampling frame. Additionally, centres were excluded if their response to the question regarding the number of children in our target population was deemed implausible. This will result in a sampling frame of n=1,850 centres that provide care for at least six children aged three years or older but not yet attending school and for which completed director and pedagogical staff questionnaires are available.

5. Sampling Designs

Different sampling designs were established for the different target populations. Given that for several of the target populations access was gained via youth welfare offices or childcare centres, multistage sampling approaches reflecting the multistage access to the target populations were implemented in some of the sampling designs. Specifically, due to the lack of sampling frames, indirect sampling strategies were used for day-care workers, pedagogical staff and children (for an introduction to indirect sampling, see Lavallée 2009). In the following, the designs of the implemented sampling strategies are described briefly for each established sample. Based on the experiences of the first wave, the sampling designs will be adjusted for the subsequent wave.

5.1 Sampling Design for Youth Offices and Family Day-Care Workers

The nationwide survey of youth offices and family day-care workers started on 13 March, and officially ended on 14 September 2020.

The sampling design of youth offices was a complete survey of the target population. Thus, ERiK contacted all youth offices in the sampling frame.

In a two-stage sampling design, we asked youth offices to forward the ERiK questionnaire to family day-care workers. Direct contact with family day-care workers was not possible, yet the youth offices have the contact details of the family day-care workers holding a valid permit in their district.

The sampling of family day-care workers was designed to provide random samples for the underlying populations. ERiK aimed in this survey to

- 1. survey 2,500 family day-care workers,
- 2. achieve representative findings on the federal state level, and
- 3. minimise the number of youth offices involved.

The ERiK monitoring programme and the German federal states agreed on different minimum sample sizes depending on the states' number of youth offices and family day-care workers. Thus, in smaller federal states, each or most of the youth offices had to contact family day-care workers.

To avoid burdening youth offices with requests, not all youth offices were asked to forward questionnaires to family day-care workers. In 2017, each youth office registered on average 76 family day-care workers, of which half should be contacted (so 38 on average) (own calculations based on Statistisches Bundesamt 2017).

Taking these guidelines into account, the sample of family day-care workers was a stratified two-stage cluster sample, with the youth offices being the clusters from which the day-care workers were drawn. It was stratified by federal state, which means that the population was divided into different subgroups or strata (in this case federal states) and the samples were drawn separately in each state.

In order to reach the target number of completed questionnaires, we calculated the gross sample of day-care workers needed by taking into account average response rates of previous studies about youth offices and family day-care workers. The average response rate for youth offices in comparable studies (BMFSFJ 2017; JHSW 2014, 2009) is about 54 percent. We therefore assumed that about 54 percent of the youth welfare offices in our survey would participate and forward questionnaires to family day-care workers within their district.

Previous studies on day-care workers in Germany achieved an average response rate of about 28 percent (e. g. OECD 2019; Viernickel/Ihm/Böhme 2019; Landesverband Kindertagespflege 2018; Mayer et al. 2013). In addition, an average of 0.3 percent of day-care worker addresses were considered non-eligible in these previous studies and taken into account for our calculations.

These considerations resulted in 236 youth offices that should forward questionnaires to about

| | | cci | | |
|--|--------------------------|------|---------|------|
| | Youth offices Day-care w | | workers | |
| | N | % | N | % |
| Gross Sample | 575 | 100 | 16,693 | 100 |
| Subsample A (youth offices OQ/MQ & day-care workers OQ/MQ) | 267 | 46.4 | 10,488 | 62.8 |
| Subsample B (youth offices OQ/MQ without day-care workers) | 144 | 25.0 | - | - |
| Subsample C (youth offices OQ & day-care workers OQ) | 43 | 7.5 | 1,546 | 9.3 |
| Subsample D (youth offices OQ/MQ & day-care workers OQ) | 121 | 21.0 | 4,659 | 27.9 |

Table 5.1-1: Sample Design, 1st wave, ERiK, youth offices and family day-care workers

9,000 family day-care workers. As a precautionary measure, we increased the number of youth offices to 431 and the number of family day-care workers to about 17,000.

To prevent seasonal bias and to design an approach responsive to fieldwork developments, the sampling design considered different months of data collection. Therefore, the sample was randomly divided into two tranches. However, the coronavirus pandemic caused delays, which made this time-lagged approach unfeasible and ultimately led both tranches to start on the same date.

Previous German studies on ECEC varied with regard to their field length, response rates and the survey mode(s) applied. At the same time, a best-practice standard with regard to contacting and surveying youth offices as well as family day-care workers does not exist in the field. However, from methodological research we know that

- 1. response rates are particularly high if survey modes are adapted to the preferences of respondents such as their survey mode preferences (Dykema et al. 2013) and
- 2. the higher the effort for respondents to participate, the less likely they are to participate.

Following these two principles, we included two method tests in our sample design. We randomly split the gross sample of youth offices into four subsamples.

- 1. Subsample A was allowed to either respond via online questionnaire (OQ) or with pen and paper on a mail questionnaire (MQ) and was asked to distribute questionnaires to family day-care workers residing in their district who were allowed to either respond online (OQ) or with pen and paper (MQ).
- 2. Subsample B was asked to either respond online or with pen and paper (OQ or MQ) and was not asked to distribute questionnaires

- and any further materials to family day-care workers.
- 3. Subsample C was asked to respond online (OQ only) and to distribute questionnaires to family day-care workers within their youth office district who were in turn also asked to respond online (OQ).
- 4. Subsample D was allowed to either respond online or with pen and paper (OQ or MQ) and was asked to distribute questionnaires to family day-care workers within their youth office district who only had the option of responding online (OQ).

With the respective method test results, we hope to gain knowledge about the survey mode preferences of youth offices and family day-care workers as well as the consequences of asking youth offices to distribute materials e.g. on their response behaviour. Table 5.1-1 sums up the different survey modes and details the respective subsample sizes.

5.2 Sampling Design for Providers of Childcare

The survey of providers of childcare started on 14 May, and officially ended on 14 September 2020.

ERIK aimed to survey a minimum of 2,000 providers of childcare (net sample). As with day-care workers, we calculated a gross sample by taking the expected response rate (33 percent) and the expected share of non-eligible cases (10 percent) based on previous studies (e. g. BMFSFJ n.d.; Schneider 2018; Mamier et al. 2003) into account, resulting in 8,000 for the gross sample.

When sampling the providers of childcare, we aimed for a representation of the landscape of childcare facilities. We thus stratified the sample by federal state and provider size, giving

Table 5.2-1: Sample Design, 1st wave, ERIK, providers of childcare

| | Providers | |
|----------------------------------|-----------|------|
| Tranches/Subsample: | N | % |
| Gross Sample | 14,942 | 100 |
| Tranche 1, subsample A (OQ/MQ) | 7,318 | 49.0 |
| Tranche 1, subsample B (only OQ) | 585 | 3.9 |
| Tranche 2, subsample A (OQ/MQ) | 164 | 1.1 |
| Tranche 2, subsample B (only OQ) | 6,875 | 46.0 |

Note: The gross sample of n=14,942 includes 74 cases that were deleted after sampling tranche 1 because they erroneously remained in the list after the quality test of the Nexiga list. As the remaining 78 erroneous cases were deleted before sampling tranche 2, the gross sample differs from the sampling frame of n=15.020.

providers with many facilities a higher probability of being sampled.

However, the response rate was much lower than expected, which forced us to increase our gross sample by conducting a complete survey of all providers in the Nexiga list. To this end, we added a second tranche, contacting all remaining providers of childcare in our gross sample (the list from Nexiga). Thus, ultimately the size of the provider had no effect on the probability of being sampled.

Similar to our approach with youth offices and day-care workers, we randomly partitioned the tranches into subsamples for a method test. Subsamples 1a and 2a received both online (OQ) and paper questionnaires (MQ), while subsamples 1b and 2b only received online versions of the questionnaire (see Table 5.2-1). Future studies of providers could use this test to determine if it is possible to reduce costs by focusing on the online mode.

5.3 Sampling Design for Directors and Pedagogical Staff at Day-Care Centres

The first wave of the surveys of directors and pedagogical staff started in Germany on 29 April and ended on 31 August 2020.

The aim of the sampling of day-care centres was to survey a minimum of 4,500 directors. We moreover sought to gather information about the pedagogical staff within centres where the director responded.

ERiK and the German federal states agreed on different minimal numbers of cases (categorised

in five groups roughly proportional to the number of centres in the state). Thus, we stratified the sample of day-care centres across the German federal states and took random samples in each state independently.

To calculate the gross sample, we screened previous studies of directors and pedagogical staff at day-care centres. The average response rate in previous day-care centre surveys was about 42 percent and an average of three percent of the addresses of day-care centres were non-eligible. After taking non-eligible cases and non-responses into account, we derived a gross sample of directors of n=12,000 with an expected net sample of about n=4,900.

The sample of pedagogical staff depended on the sample of (directors of) day-care centres. In line with the broad definition of our target population, here pedagogical staff, the number of distributed questionnaires per centre had to be reasonably large to ensure that part-time employees, trainees and people completing a voluntary social year had a chance to be surveyed. At the same time, the number of centres had to be reasonably high to ensure that internal validity would be achieved and the clusters (day-care centres) are representative of the target population as a whole.

On average, one day-care centre employs eleven pedagogical staff (Statistisches Bundesamt 2016), of which we decided to target half; so five in each centre. This means the sampling process of pedagogical staff resulted in a stratified two-stage clustered sample, where the day-care centres are the clusters and the federal states are the strata.

We assumed that 50 percent of directors would forward the questionnaires to their pedagogical staff, hence we calculated a gross sample of about n=45,000 to reach our minimum of n=8,000 completed pedagogical staff questionnaires.

To prevent seasonal bias and to design an approach responsive to fieldwork developments, the sampling design considered different months of data collection. Therefore, the sample was randomly divided into two tranches. However, the coronavirus pandemic caused delays, which

¹ Geiger (2019); OECD (2019); Turani (2019); Buschle/Gruber (2018); Leibniz-Institut für Bildungsverläufe e.V. (2018); Strehmel/Kiani (2018); Bauer (2017); Fröhlich-Gildhoff et al. (2017); Granzow (2017); Pooch/Kappler (2017); Schober et al. (2017); Wölfl/Wertfein/Wirts (2017); Schreyer et al. (2014); Viernickel/Voss (2013); Beher/Walter (2012); Seckinger et al. (2012); Maurice et al. (2007); Pluto et al. (2007).

Table 5.3-1: Sample Design, 1st wave, ERIK, directors and pedagogical staff at day-care centres

| | Directors | | Ped. staff | |
|---|-----------|------|------------|------|
| | N | % | N | % |
| Gross Sample | 13,200 | 100 | 48,000 | 100 |
| Tranche 1, subsample A OQ/MQ with dissemination to the pedagogical staff (OQ/MQ) | 4,700 | 35.6 | 23,500 | 49.0 |
| Tranche 1, subsample B only OQ with dissemination to the pedagogical staff (only OQ) | 900 | 6.8 | 4,500 | 9.4 |
| Tranche 1, subsample C OQ/MQ without dissemination to pedagogical staff | 900 | 6.8 | - | _ |
| Tranche 1 (former T2), subsample A OQ/MQ with dissemination to the pedagogical staff (OQ/MQ) $$ | 3,400 | 25.8 | 17,000 | 35.4 |
| Tranche 1 (former T2), subsample C OQ/MQ without dissemination to the pedagogical staff | 2,100 | 15.9 | - | _ |
| Tranche 2 (former T3), subsample A OQ/MQ with dissemination to the pedagogical staff (OQ/MQ) $$ | 603 | 4.6 | 3,000 | 6.3 |
| Tranche 2 (former T3), subsample C OQ/MQ without dissemination to the pedagogical staff | 597 | 4.5 | - | _ |

Note: Percentages might not add up to 100 due to rounding.

made this time-lagged approach unfeasible and ultimately led both tranches to start on the same date (in April 2020).

However, due to a lower-than-expected response rate (possibly due to the coronavirus pandemic), we added a third tranche that started in mid-July. Overall, including tranche 3, we consequently had a total of n=13,200 for directors. For pedagogical staff, due to the dissemination of the questionnaires to half of the average pedagogical staff (n=5), we used a gross sample of n=48,000.

As with our approach with youth offices and family day-care workers, we randomly split the sample into three subsamples for a method test. The subsamples varied in the questionnaire mode options (OQ and MQ or only OQ) and with regards to the request of forwarding questionnaires to the pedagogical staff:

- 1. Subsample A was allowed to either respond online or with pen and paper (OQ or MQ questionnaire) and was asked to distribute questionnaires to the pedagogical staff in their centre who were allowed to either respond online (OQ) or on paper (MQ).
- 2. Subsample B was asked to respond online (OQ) and to distribute questionnaires to the pedagogical staff in their centre who only had the option of responding online (OQ).
- 3. Subsample C was allowed to either respond online or with pen and paper (OQ or MQ) but was not asked to distribute any material to the pedagogical staff.

With the results of this method test, we hope to gain insights into the survey mode preferences of directors and pedagogical staff in day-care centres as well as the consequences of asking directors to distribute materials e.g. on their response behaviour. Future studies of directors and pedagogical staff could use the results of this test to determine if it is possible to reduce costs by focusing on the online mode. Table 5.3-1 sums up the different survey modes and shows the respective sizes of the tranches and subsamples.

5.4 Sampling Design for Parents of Children in Day-Care

The survey of parents of children in day-care was conducted by KiBS from 15 March 2019 until 7 October 2019.

The target net sample of the KiBS survey was n=32,800 children, for each of whom one parent should be surveyed. The sampling frame of KiBS was stratified on two characteristics: German federal states (with 16 strata) and children's age groups (with 3 strata). In each federal state, KiBS aimed for the following sample sizes: 800 children under three years, 500 children aged three to five years as well as 750 children aged six to ten years (aged six to 11 years in Berlin and Brandenburg).

The KiBS sample consists of two parts: a panel from previous waves and a refresher sample to supplement the panel cases. The gross sample consisted of n=115,562 cases of which n=26,334 cases came from the panel and n=89,228 cases were drawn from registers in 550 sample points (municipalities) as the refresher sample (for more details, see Aust et al. 2019).

For ERiK, only children that do not yet attend school are of interest. Thus, parents of children entering the school system were excluded.

The survey was conducted as a mixed mode survey combining computer assisted telephone interviews (CATI), mail questionnaires (MQ) and online questionnaires (OQ). If a telephone number was available, a telephone interview was conducted, otherwise respondents received a paper questionnaire via mail. Both groups also had the option of responding online.

5.5 Sampling Design for Children in Day-Care

Sampling of centres for the children survey is planned for autumn/winter 2021, after which the surveys of centres and parents are planned to start in spring 2022 and the survey of children in summer 2022.

The sampling design will follow a two-stage process in which the day-care centres are sampled in a first step: from the n=1,850 centres in the

sampling frame, n=550 will be sampled proportionately to the number of children in the federal states, stratified by the size of the municipalities (seven categories ranging from "Less than 2,000 inhabitants" to "More than 500,000"). These centres will be asked to forward the parent survey to all parents whose children are aged four or over and attend the centre. For this purpose, the centres will on average receive 45 sets of printed contact materials with the option of printing more if required. When parents have two or more children in the target population that attend the centre, their answers should refer to the youngest child in the centre aged over four years. Consequently, only the youngest child will potentially be interviewed.

In the second step, the children of the parents who completed the parent survey and gave their permission for their child to be surveyed will be sampled randomly. To increase the probability that the targeted net sample of n=600 with four children per centre is achieved, we will sample six children per centre to account for potential illness or absence on the interview date.

Fieldwork Results and Response Rates

6.1 Parent Survey

The parent survey was conducted by the infas Institute for Applied Social Sciences from March to October 2019. Three different survey techniques were used: if a telephone number was available, the household was contacted via telephone after information was first provided about the survey by post. If requested, a link to the online questionnaire was provided instead of the CATI. This resulted in 57 additional OQ cases. If no telephone number was available, the parents were invited to participate via online or mail questionnaire. They received a letter with a paper questionnaire and a link plus code for the online version. Thus, they could choose their preferred mode to participate.

The non-contact rates in both samples were substantial: no contact could be established with 28 percent of the panel sample and 67 percent of the refresher sample. In total 560 cases were classified as non-eligible. In most cases, these children were no longer part of the target population because they had already left primary school. The number of non-eligible cases is likely much higher, but as the contact rate was so low, it is impossible to establish the exact number.

Especially in the case of MQ, very few potential respondents explicitly refuse or answer that they no longer belong to the target population. Consequently, less than 1 percent of the MQ sample explicitly refused to participate. In contrast, in the CATI samples 9 percent of the panel sample and 23 percent of the refresher sample declined to participate in the survey. Overall, 63 percent of the panel sample and 17 percent of the refresher sample participated in the survey and conducted a valid interview. The details can be seen in Table 6.1-1.

Table 6.1-1: Fieldwork Parents Survey

| | Panel Sample 1 | | Refresher Sample | |
|---------------------------|------------------|------|------------------|------|
| | N | % | N | % |
| Gross sample | 26,334 | 100 | 89,228 | 100 |
| Non-eligible Non-eligible | 440 | 1.7 | 120 | 0.1 |
| Refusal | 1,612 | 6.1 | 4,894 | 5.5 |
| Non-contact | 7,392 | 28.1 | 59,619 | 66.8 |
| Nonresponse - other | 301 | 1.1 | 663 | 0.7 |
| Unknown eligibility | - | - | 8,609 | 9.6 |
| Interview invalid | 47 | 0.2 | 39 | 0.0 |
| Interview valid | 16,542 | 62.8 | 15,284 | 17.1 |
| interview valid | 10,542 | 100 | 15,204 | 100 |
| CATI | 10,996 | 66.5 | 3,772 | 24.7 |
| OQ | 1,721 | 10.4 | 3,184 | 20.8 |
| MQ | 3,825 | 23.1 | 8,328 | 54.5 |

Note: Percentages might not add up to 100 due to rounding.

Bibliography

- Alt, Christian/Gesell, Daniela/Hubert, Sandra/Hüsken, Katrin/ Kuhnke, Ralf/Lippert, Kerstin (n.d.): DJI-Kinderbetreuungsreport 2017
- Aust, Folkert/Burg, Julian von der/Hess, Doris/Knecht, Babette (2019): Methodenbericht: Kinderbetreuungsstudie 2019
- Autorengruppe Bildungsberichterstattung (2018): Bildung in Deutschland 2018: Ein indikatorengestützter Bericht mit einer Analyse zu Bildung und Migration. Bielefeld
- Bauer, Andrea (2017): Methodenbericht: NEPS-Startkohorte 1 Haupterhebung 2017 B102. Bonn
- Beher, Karin/Walter, Michael (2012): Qualifikationen und Weiterbildung frühpädagogischer Fachkräfte: Bundesweite Befragung von Einrichtungsleitungen und Fachkräften in Kindertageseinrichtungen: Zehn Fragen Zehn Antworten. WiFF-Studien. Vol. 15. München. URL: https://www.weiterbildungsinitiative.de/fileadmin/Redaktion/Publikationen/old_uploads/media/Studie_BeherWalter.pdf
- Bieker, Rudolf (2011): Träger, Arbeitsfelder und Zielgruppen der Sozialen Arbeit. Grundwissen soziale Arbeit. Vol. 5/6. Stuttgart
- Bildungsberichterstattung (2020): Bildung in Deutschland 2020: Ein indikatorengestützter Bericht mit einer Analyse zu Bildung in einer digitalisierten Welt
- Bonoli, Giuliano/Reber, Frank (2010): The political economy of childcare in OECD countries: Explaining cross-national variation in spending and coverage rates. In: European Journal of Political Research, 49. Jg., H. 1, pp. 97–118
- Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend (BMFSFJ) (2017): Kindertagesbetreuung: Zoom: Zoom auf: Fachberatung. URL: https://www.fruehe-chancen.de/theme n/chancengleichheit/methodische-hinweise/
- Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend ed. (n.d.): Befragung von Jugendämtern 2016 im Auftrag des Bundesministeriums für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend
- Burg, Julian von der/Hess, Doris (2017): Qualität in der Kindertagespflege (QuidKit)
- Buschle, Christina/Gruber, Veronika (2018): Die Bedeutung von Weiterbildung für das Arbeitsfeld Kindertageseinrichtung: Weiterbildungsinitiative Frühpädagogische Fachkräfte. WiFF Studien. Vol. 30. München. URL: https://www.weiterbildungsinitiative.de/fileadmin/Redaktion/Publikationen/old_uploads/media/WiFF_Studie_30_Buschle_Gruber_WEB.pdf
- Cunha, Flavio/Heckman, James J. (2010): Investing in our young people. Cambridge
- Cunha, Flavio/Heckman, James J./Lochner, Lance/Masterov, Dimitriy V. (2006): Interpreting the evidence on life cycle skill formation. In: Handbook of the Economics of Education, 1. Jg, pp. 697–812

- Davis, Elise/Everiss, Liz/Friendly, Martha/Williamson Corr, Lara (2012): An international perspective on regulated family day care systems. In: Australasian Journal of Early Childhood, 37. Jg., H. 4, pp. 127–137
- Dieckbreder, Frank/Koschmider, Susanne/Sauer, Martin (2014): Kita-Management: Haltungen-Methoden-Perspektiven. Vol. 137
- Döge, Paula (2014): Überblick über Studiendesign und Stichprobengewinnung der NUBBEK-Studie. In: Frühe Bildung, 3. Jg., H. 2, pp. 70–72
- Dykema, Jennifer/Stevenson, John/Klein, Lisa/Kim, Yujin/Day, Brendan (2013): Effects of E-Mailed Versus Mailed Invitations and Incentives on Response Rates, Data Quality, and Costs in a Web Survey of University Faculty. In: Social Science Computer Review, 31. Jg., H. 3, pp. 359–370
- Forschungsverbund DJI/TU Dortmund (2019): Überarbeitungsbedarfe der Kinder-und Jugendhilfestatistiken
- Fröhlich-Gildhoff, Klaus/Söhnen, Sarah Aileen, Gscheidle, Dorothee/Schroff, Michaela/Werner, Nadine/Wollenweber, Nadine (2017): Einschätzung der Bindungssicherheit in der Kita empirische Annäherungen. In: Perspektiven der empirischen Kinder- und Jugendforschung, 17. Jg, pp. 30–46. URL: https://fel-verlag.de/files/u757/Perspektiven%206_2017%20Jahrgang%203%20%282%29.pdf#page=30
- Fuchs-Rechlin, Kirsten/Bergmann, Christian (2014): Der Abbau von Bildungsbenachteiligung durch Kindertagesbetreuung für unter 3-Jährige – zwischen Wunsch und Wirklichkeit. In: Zeitschrift für Erziehungswissenschaft, 17. Jg., H. 2, pp. 95– 118
- Gandlgruber, Monika (2019): Feldphasen bei Institutionenbefragungen: Herausforderungen und Hinweise zu ihrer Vorbereitung und Durchführung - eine Arbeitshilfe. München
- Geiger, Kristina (2019): Personalgewinnung. Personalentwicklung. Personalbindung. Eine bundesweite Befragung von Kindertageseinrichtungen (WiFF Studie 32)
- German Data Forum ed. (2010): Building on Progress: Expanding the Research Infrastructure for the Social, Economic, and Behavioral Sciences. 2nd ed. Opladen & Farmington Hills
- Granzow, Marina (2017): Berufliche Kompetenzen frühpädagogischer Fachkräfte: Entwicklung eines Struktur- und Messmodells zur Erfassung beruflicher Kompetenzen im Praxisfeld Kindertagesstätte
- Häusermann, Silja (2018): The multidimensional politics of social investment in conservative welfare regimes: family policy reform between social transfers and social investment. In: Journal of European Public Policy, 25. Jg., H. 6, pp. 862–877
- JHSW (2009): DJI Jugendverbandserhebung: Befunde zu Strukturmerkmalen und Herausforderungen: Projekt Jugendhilfe und sozialer Wandel Leistungen und Strukturen. URL: https://www.dji.de/fileadmin/user_upload/bibs/64_11664_Jugendverbandserhebung2009.pdf

- JHSW (2014): Lebenslagen Jugendlicher als Ausgangspunkt kommunaler Politikgestaltung: Eine Expertise zur beteiligungsorientierten Erhebung von jugendpolitischen Bedarfen. URL: https://www.intern.dji.de/fileadmin/user_upload/bibs/64_ExpertiseLebenslagenJugendliche.pdf
- kita.de ed. (2020): Kindergarten Krippe Hort. url.: https://www.kita.de/impressum.html
- Kliche, Thomas/Töppich, Jürgen/Koch-Gromus, Uwe (2009): Leistungen und Bedarf von Kitas für Prävention und Gesundheitsförderung. In: Bitzer, Eva Maria/Lingner, Heidrun/Schwartz, Friedrich Wilhelm/Walter, Ulla eds.: Kindergesundheit stärken. Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 252–259
- Landesverband Kindertagespflege (2018): Mindestens den Mindestlohn! Faire Bezahlung für Tagesmütter und -väter: Untersuchung der Einkommenssituation von Tagespflegepersonen in Baden-Württemberg. Stuttgart
- Lange, Jens (2017): Leitung von Kindertageseinrichtungen: Eine Bestandsaufnahme von Leitungskräften und Leitungsstrukturen in Deutschland. Gütersloh. URL: https://www.bertelsmann-stiftung.de/fileadmin/files/BSt/Publikationen/GrauePublikationen/Leitung_von_Kindertageseinrichtungen.pdf
- Lavallée, Pierre (2009): Indirect sampling. New York
- Leibniz-Institut für Bildungsverläufe e.V. (2018): Erhebungsinstrumente (Feldversion): NEPS Startkohorte 2 Kindergarten: Frühe Bildung in Kindergarten und Grundschule Welle 1
- Mamier, Jasmin/Pluto, Liane/Van Santen, Eric/Seckinger, Mike/ Zink, Gabriela (2003): Geschäftsstellen freier Träger in der Kinder- und Jugendhilfe: Empirische Analysen zu Funktionen und Handlungsmöglichkeiten auf kommunaler Ebene: Jugendhilfe und sozialer Wandel – Leistungen und Strukturen. München
- Maurice, Jutta von/Artelt, Cordula/Blossfeld, Hans-Peter/Faust, Gabriele/Roßbach, Hans-Günther/Weinert, Sabine (2007): Bildungsprozesse, Kompetenzentwicklung und Selektionsentscheidungen im Vor- und Grundschulalter: Überblick über die Erhebungen in den Längsschnittstudien BiKS 3-8 und BiKS 8-12 in den ersten beiden Projektjahren. Bamberg
- Mayer, Daniela/Beckh, Kathrin (2018): Erfassung pädagogischer Qualität in Kindertageseinrichtungen. In: Frühe Bildung
- Mayer, Daniela/Beckh, Kathrin/Berkic, Julia/Becker-Stoll, Fabienne (2013): Nationale Untersuchung zur Bildung, Betreuung und Erziehung in der frühen Kindheit (NUBBEK): Ergebnisbericht der Untersuchung in Bayern. München
- Oberhuemer, Pamela/Schreyer, Inge/Neuman, Michelle J. (2010): Professionals in early childhood education and care systems: European profiles and perspectives. Opladen
- OECD (2019): Gute Strategien für gute Berufe in der frühen Bildung: Acht Maßnahmen aus OECD-Ländern. Paris. URL: https://oe.cd/pub/ecec2019
- Pluto, Liane/Gragert, Nicola/Van Santen, Eric/Seckinger, Mike (2007): Kinder- und Jugendhilfe im Wandel: Eine empirische Strukturanalyse. München. uRL: http://www.socialnet.de/rezensionen/isbn.php?isbn=978-3-87966-416-0
- Pooch, Marie-Theres/Kappler, Selina (2017): Datenreport des Monitorings zum Stand der Prävention sexualisierter Gewalt an Kindern und Jugendlichen in Deutschland (2015–2018) zu den Handlungsfeldern Kindertageseinrichtungen, Heime, Kliniken, und Einrichtungen des ambulanten Gesundheitsbereichs: Teilbericht 3. Berlin

- Pothmann, Jens (2018): Kompendium Kinder-und Jugendhilfestatistik
- Pothmann, Jens (2019): Kinder- und Jugendhilfestatistik. In: Begemann, Maik-Carsten/Birkelbach, Klaus eds.: Forschungsdaten für die Kinder- und Jugendhilfe. Wiesbaden, pp. 235– 256
- Ruhm, Christopher/Waldfogel, Jane (2012): Long-term effects of early childhood care and education. In: Nordic Economic Policy Review, 1. Jg., H. 1, pp. 23–51
- Schilling, Matthias (2002): Die amtliche Kinder- und Jugendhilfestatistik. Dissertation. URL: https://portal.dnb.de/opac/showFullRecord?currentResultId=%22Schilling%22+and+%22die%22+and+%22amtliche%22+and+%22Kinder-%22+and+%22und%22+and+%22Jugendhilfestatistik%22%26any%C2%A4tPosition=0
- Schilling, Matthias (2017): Künftiger Personalbedarf eine Projektion bis 2025. In: Fachkräftebarometer Frühe Bildung, pp. 176–185
- Schilling, Matthias/Kolvenbach, Franz-Josef (2011): Dynamische Stabilität. Zur Systematik der KJH-Statistik und ihrer Weiterentwicklung. In: Rauschenbach, Thomas/Schilling, Matthias eds.: Kinder- und Jugendhilfereport 3. Weinheim/München, pp. 191–210
- Schneider, Armin (2018): Träger und Personalrekrutierung Kindertagesbetreuung in Brandenburg: Befragung der Träger. Koblenz
- Schober, Pia S./Spieß, C. Katharina/Stahl, Juliane F./Zoch, Gundula/Camehl, Georg F. (2017): The Early Childhood Education and Care Quality in the Socio-Economic Panel (SOEP-ECEC Quality) Study K2ID-SOEP Data: Data Documentation. Berlin
- Schreyer, Inge/Krause, Martin/Brandl, Marion/Nicko, Oliver (2014): AQUA Arbeitsplatz und Qualität in Kitas: Ergebnisse einer bundesweiten Befragung. München. URL: http://www.aqua-studie.de/Dokumente/AQUA_Endbericht.pdf
- Seckinger, Mike/Pluto, Liane/Peucker, Christian/Gadow, Tina (2012): Jugendringe Kristallisationskerne der örtlichen Jugendarbeit: Projekt Jugendhilfe und sozialer Wandel Leistungen und Strukturen. 1. Aufl. München
- Siraj-Blatchford, Iram/Moriarty, Viv (2004): Pädagogische Wirksamkeit in der Früherziehung. In: Fthenakis, Wassilios E./ Oberhuemer, Pamela eds.: Frühpädagogik international, pp. 87–104
- Statistisches Bundesamt (2013): Statistiken der Kinder- und Jugendhilfe Teil III.1: Kinder und tätige Personen in Tageseinrichtungen (Qualitätsbericht). Wiesbaden. URL: https://www.destatis.de/DE/Methoden/Qualitaet/Qualitaetsberichte/Soziales/kinder-personen-tageseinrichtungen-teil3_1.pdf?_blob=publicationFile
- Statistisches Bundesamt (2014): Konsumausgaben von Familien für Kinder: Berechnungen auf der Grundlage der Einkommens- und Verbrauchsstichprobe 2008. Wiesbaden
- Statistisches Bundesamt (2016): Kinder und tätige Personen in Tageseinrichtungen und in öffentlich geförderter Kindertagespflege am 01.03.2016. Wiesbaden
- Statistisches Bundesamt (2017): Statistiken der Kinder- und Jugendhilfe: Kinder und tätige Personen in Tageseinrichtungen und in öffentlich geförderter Kindertagespflege am 01.03.2017. Wiesbaden. url: https://www.statistischebibliothek.de/mir/servlets/MCRFileNodeServlet/DEHeft_derivate_00042782/5225402177004_Korr20042018.pdf

- Statistisches Bundesamt (2018): Bevölkerung und Erwerbstätigkeit - Bevölkerungsfortschreibung auf Grundlage des Zensus 2011
- Statistisches Bundesamt ed. (2019a): Fortschreibung des Bevölkerungsstandes. URL: https://www-genesis.destatis. de/genesis/online?operation=table&code=12411-0005& bypass = true & levelindex = 0 & levelid = 1605628966957 # abreadcrumb
- Statistisches Bundesamt ed. (2019b): Kindertagesbetreuung. Betreuungsquote von Kindern unter sechs Jahren nach Bundesländern. URL: https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Gesellschaft Umwelt / Soziales / Kindertagesbetreuung / Tabellen/betreuungsquote-2018.html
- Statistisches Bundesamt (2020): Statistiken der Kinder- und Jugendhilfe: Kinder und tätige Personen in Tageseinrichtungen und in öffentlich geförderter Kindertagespflege am 01.03.2020. Wiesbaden. URL: https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Gesellschaft-Umwelt/Soziales/Kindertagesbetre uung/Publikationen/Downloads-Kindertagesbetreuung/tageseinrichtungen-kindertagespflege-5225402207004.pdf? __blob=publicationFile
- Strehmel, Petra/Kiani, Henning (2018): Personalausfälle in Kindertageseinrichtungen in Schleswig-Holstein. In: unsere jugend, 70. Jg., H. 7+8, pp. 336–343
- Strehmel, Petra/Overmann, Julia (2018): Personalentwicklung in Kindertageseinrichtungen: Ziele, Strategien und Rolle der Träger. Weiterbildungsinitiative Frühpädagogische Fachkräfte. WiFF Studien. Vol. 28. München

- Tietze, Wolfgang/Becker-Stoll, Fabienne/Bensel, Joachim/Eckhardt, Andrea G./Haug-Schnabel, Gabriele/Kalicki, Bernhard/ Keller, Heidi (2013): Nationale Untersuchung zur Bildung, Betreuung und Erziehung in der frühen Kindheit (NUBBEK)
- Turani, Daniel (2019): Methodenbericht OECD-Fachkräftebefragung. München
- Ullrich-Runge, Clauda/Lipowski, Hilke (2019): QHB-Erweiterungsmaterial Großtagespflege
- Vandenbroeck, Michel/Lazzari, Arianna (2014): Accessibility of early childhood education and care: A state of affairs. In: European Early Childhood Education Research Journal, 22. Jg., H. 3, pp. 327–335
- Viernickel, Susanne/Ihm, Maria/Böhme, Martin (2019): Bildung und Gesundheit in der Kindertagespflege: Ergebnisse aus dem Forschungsprojekt: Gute gesunde Kindertagespflege. Berlin/Leipzig
- Viernickel, Susanne/Voss, Anja (2013): Wissenschaftlicher Abschlussbericht: STEGE Strukturqualität und Erzieher_innengesundheit in Kindertageseinrichtungen
- Wölfl, Janina/Wertfein, Monika/Wirts, Claudia (2017): IVO Eine Studie zur Umsetzung von Inklusion als gemeinsame Aufgabe von Kindertageseinrichtungen und Frühförderung in Bayern: Kita-Ergebnisbericht. In: IFP, 17. Jg., H. 30, pp. 3–49. URL: https://www.ifp.bayern.de/imperia/md/content/stmas/ifp/projektbericht_30__ivo_barrierefrei_okt_17.pdf

List of Tables

| 4.3-1 | Match between commercial Nexiga list of providers of childcare and federal state | |
|-------|--|----|
| | lists (excluding Saxony) | 11 |
| 4.4-1 | Match between commercial Nexiga list of centres and federal state lists | 12 |
| 5.1-1 | Sample Design, 1st wave, ERiK, youth offices and family day-care workers | 15 |
| 5.2-1 | Sample Design, 1st wave, ERiK, providers of childcare | 16 |
| 5.3-1 | Sample Design, 1st wave, ERiK, directors and pedagogical staff at day-care centres | 17 |
| 6.1-1 | Fieldwork Parents Survey | 19 |

ERiK Methodological Report I

Target Populations, Sampling Frames and Sampling Designs of the ERiK-Surveys 2020

The ERiK Methodological Report I informs about the methodological concept of the ERiK-Surveys 2020 on quality of child day-care in Germany. In particular, it describes the target populations, sampling frames and sampling designs for the seven surveyed populations.

The German Youth Institute (DJI) is one of the largest social science research institutes in Europe and plays a central role in current research into the life situations of children, young people and families. The DJI's empirical studies both aim to contribute to the state of the art of research in the field as well as provide key impulses for professional practice. In addition to its scientific focus, the DJI provides policy advice to the German national government, the German federal states and local authorities.

Authors:

Diana D. Schacht, Benjamin Gedon, Jakob J. Gilg, Christina Klug, Susanne Kuger

